
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

MONROE DIVISION

MONROE FIREFIGHTERS CIVIL ACTION NO. 06-CV-1092
ASSOCIATION, ET AL.

VERSUS JUDGE ROBERT G. JAMES

CITY OF MONROE MAG. JUDGE KAREN L. HAYES

RULING

This actionwasbroughton June27, 2006,by approximately148 formerandcurrent

firefighters,who allegethattheiremployer,theCity of Monroe(the“City”), committedcertain

violationsoftheFairLaborStandardsAct, 29 U.S.C. § 201, etseq.(“FLSA”). In this, thethird

offive dispositivemotions,theCity filed aMotion for PartialSummaryJudgment(“Third

Motion for PartialSummaryJudgment”)[Doc. No. 62] on Plaintiffs’ claimsofFLSA retaliation.

Plaintiffs havefiled amemorandumin oppositionto theCity’s ThirdMotion for Partial

SummaryJudgment[Doc. No. 109].

With leaveofCourt, theCity filed aReplymemorandum[Doc.No. 121].

Havingreviewedall briefs filed andevidencesubmitted,theCourt finds thattheCity’s

Third Motion for PartialSummaryJudgmentshouldbe GRANTED N PART andDENIED N

PART.
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I. FACTS’

OnNovember4, 2005,PerryJeselink(“Jeselink”), thePresidentof theMonroe

FirefightersAssociation(“theUnion”), andTim Dickerson(“Dickerson”), theVice-Presidentof

theUnion,metwith Fire ChiefJimmieBryant(“ChiefBryant”); ChiefBryant’ssecretary,

BarbaraRyals(“Ryals”); Mike Rhymes(“Rhymes”),theHumanResourcesDirectorfor theCity;

andDavidBarnes(“Barnes”),theDirectorof Administrationfor theCity. At themeeting,the

City allegedlyconcededthat it wascalculatinglongevitypayincorrectly. Thepartiesalso

discussedthecalculationofovertimecompensation.However,theydid notreachanagreement

on theovertimeissue.

On January18, 2006,Plaintiffs’ counselsenta letterto theCityrequestingan explanation

ofthecalculationofovertimecompensation.TheCity did notrespond.

On February13,2006,Plaintiffs’ counselfaxedanotherletterto the City, attachingthe

January16, 2006 letter.

On April 11,2006,ChiefBryantchangedthepolicy of theMonroeFire Department

(“MFD”) on “time trading.” Time tradingoccurswhenfirefightersexchangeshifts. Because

firefightersoftenholdsecondjobs, theyrely on timetradingto scheduletheirsecondjobs.

On May 1, 2006, ChiefBryanttransferredtheUnion President(Jeselink),Vice-President

(Dickerson),andSecretary/Treasurer(RandallMcConaughey).ChiefBryant statesthathe did so

becauseoftheirattitude.

On May2, 2006, ChiefBryantinformedtheUnion, via amemorandum,thatit couldno

longerholdmeetingsat Fire Station#1, wheretheyhadbeenheldfor aslong asanyonecould

1Thefactsarediscussedmorefully in theanalysisofeachclaim. Thefactsin this section
areprovidedto giveatimeline andcontextfor themoredetaileddiscussionbelow.
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remember.However,heneveractuallyforcedtheUnion to movetheirmeetings.

On June8, 2006,Plaintiffs’ counselsentanotherletterto theCity with adraft of the

original Complaintin this matter.

On June26, 2006,Plaintiffs filed theirComplaint[Doc. No. 1].

On July 20, 2006, ChiefBryantmandatedthatall personalfurnitureand appliances

(whichwould includemicrowavesandtelevisions)be removedfrom thefire stations.

On August22, 2006, ChiefBryantallegedlytold JeselinkthattheUnion wasjeopardizing

its contractbypushing“theseissues.”[Doc. No. 109, Exh. 24, JeselinkDeclaration]. Of the

approximately190 employeesoftheMFD, about150 employeesaremembersoftheUnion.

EveryUnionmemberis aplaintiff in this lawsuit.

In theAugust2006editionof“The Big Blaze,”MFD’s newsletter,ChiefBryantwrote

thefollowing in the“Chief’s Notes” section:

However,thereareothermattersbrewingbeforeuswhich do not accurately
portraythe imageor spirit of ourorganization. Sometimeswheninformationis
addedor takenawayit changesthewholemeaningofan issue. Pleaseknow that
this officeandadministrationhasandwill supportits membersto thebestofits
ability. However,evenin a twentyyearmarriagedifferencesarise. You manage
thembyworking throughthem. We shouldnevercondonePolitical Morale
Busting andCharacter Assassination. We cannotmakedecisionsbasedon how
one ortwo individualsfeelaboutit. Norwill I makeit apracticeof getting
permissionbeforedecisionsaremade.

[Doc. No. 109, Exh. 1, ChiefBryantDepo.,Exh. 1].

Aroundthis time, ChiefBryantdoesnotremembercalling JeselinkandDickerson

“motherfuckers”and“chickenshitsonsofbitches”orreferringto the“motherfuckingunion,”

but cannotdenyit either. [Doc. No. 109, Exh. 1, ChiefBryantDepo.,p. 79].
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On August24, 2006,theCity filed acounterclaimagainstPlaintiffs, seeking$980,000.00

for “paymentof athing not due”underLa. Civ. Codearts.2299 and2300.

On September18, 2006,ChiefBryant “locked down” thefire stations,sothat firefighters

couldleavethefire stationsonly for emergencycalls. Firefightersarenotpermittedto leavefor

anyotherreasonduring theirshifts, evenfor groceriesor meals.

In December2006,prior to thecivil servicehearing,thefirefighters’ Civil Service

Representative,DanielBooth (“Booth”), askedChiefBryantwhenhe wasgoing to stop

punishinghim. ChiefBryantallegedlyaskedBooth if he wasreferringto the lock down. When

Booth indicatedthat hewas,ChiefBryantsaid thathe “did thatin retaliationof theunion’ or

wordsto that effect.” [Doc. No. 109, Exh. 12, BoothDepo.,Depo.Exh. 3]. ChiefBryant

allegedlyadmittedthathe was“wrong,” but wanted“to changesomethingsbefore[he] let the

truckslooseagain.” [Doc.No. 109,Exh. 12, BoothDepo.,Depo.Exh. 3].

On October2, 2006,ChiefBryant relaxedthetimetradingpolicy.

On January3, 2007,ChiefBryant lifted thelock down, but, aweeklater,on January10,

2007,he imposedsomerestrictionson firefighters’ movements,suchasprohibitingthemfrom

havingamealin arestaurantafter3:00 P.M. [Doc. No. 109, Exh. 31,Doc.#00038producedby

theCity].

In aJanuary26, 2007memoto MayorJamieMayo, ChiefBryantwrote that“it mustbe

understoodthathappyemployeesarenotalwaysproductiveworkers.” [Doc. No. 109,Exh. 31,

Doc.#000001-000002producedby theCity].

In aJune26, 2007memo,ChiefBryantstatedthat theMFD would beginstrictly
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enforcingits sick leavepolicy.

On January15, 2008,Plaintiffs filed theirThirdAmendedComplaint,identifying eight

actsof retaliation:

1) Runningcriminalbackgroundcheckson firefighters;

2) Prohibitingfirefightersfrom tradingshi[f]tswhich interferesto a large
degreewith somefirefighters’ secondjobs;

3) Forcingfirefightersto “step-up”orwork shifts in placeofahigherranking
memberofthefire department;

4) Limiting thenumberof firefighterswho mayleavethestationduring each
shift;

5) Prohibitingon-duty[firefighters] from attendingunionmeetings;

6) Forcingrecentlyretiredfirefightersto forfeit earnedvacation;

7) TransfersoftheUnionpresident,vice-president,andsecretary-treasurerto
lessdesirablejob locations[;and]

8) Attemptingto rescindtheapplicableCollectiveBargainingAgreement.

[Doc. No. 41, ¶ 20].

II. LAW AND ANALYSIS

A. Standard of Review

“Summaryjudgmentis appropriate[if thesummaryjudgmentevidenceshows]‘that there

is no genuineissueasto anymaterialfact andthatthemovingpartyis entitled to judgmentas a

matterof law.” Mello v. SaraLeeCorp., 431 F.3d440,443 (5thCir. 2005)(quotingFED. R.

Civ.P. 56).

If themovingpartywill beartheburdenofpersuasionattrial, thatpartymustsupportits
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motionwith credibleevidencethatwould entitle it to adirectedverdict if notcontrovertedat

trial. CelotexCorp. v. Catrett,477 U.S. 317, 331 (1986). If theburdenof proofattrial lieswith

thenonmovingparty, themovantmayeither(1) submitcredibleevidencethatnegatesthe

existenceof somematerialelementof theopponent’sclaim or defense,or (2) demonstratethat

theevidencein therecordinsufficientlysupportsan essentialelementor claim. Id. If the

movingpartymeetsits initial burden,thenonmovingparty“must set forth specific factsshowing

thatthereis a genuineissuefor trial.” Warfieldv. Byron, 436 F.3d551, 557 (5th Cir. 2006).

“Thenonmovingparty, however,‘cannotsatisfythis burdenwith conclusoryallegations,

unsubstantiatedassertions,or only ascintilla ofevidence.”Id. (quotingFreemanv. Tex. Dep‘t

ofCrim. Justice,369F.3d 854, 860 (5th Cir. 2004)).

B. Retaliation under theFLSA

Section215(a)(3)ofthe FLSA provides,in pertinentpart, that “it shallbe unlawful for any

person. . . to dischargeor in any othermannerdiscriminateagainstany employeebecausesuch

employeehasfiled any complaintor institutedor causedto be institutedany proceedingunderor

relatedto this chapter,orhastestifiedor is aboutto testify in any suchproceeding.”

29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3);Pub.L. 99-150,99 Stat.791 (Nov. 13, 1985)(extendingtheprotectionofthe

anti-retaliationprovisionto public employees);seealso Jamesv. MedicalControl,Inc., 29

F.Supp.2d749 (N.D. Tex. 1998)(TheFLSA “prohibits retaliationagainstan employeewho files a

complaint,initiatesproceedings,orassistsin the initiation ofproceedingsundertheFLSA.”).

An employeeassertingretaliationundertheFLSA mayproceedin oneof two ways:by

direct or circumstantialevidence.

“Direct evidence”is “evidencewhich, ‘if believed,provesthe fact [in question]without
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inferenceor presumption.”Fabelav. SocorroInd. Sch.Dist., 329 F.3d409,415 (5th Cir. 2003)

(quotingPortis v. First Nat’l Bank,34 F.3d325, 328 (5thCir. 1994)). Indirect evidencecases,the

plaintiff must submitevidence“that retaliationwasamongthe motiveswhichpromotedthe adverse

action.”2 Fabela,329 F.3dat 409. Such“evidenceincludesanystatementor documentwhich

showson its facethatan impropercriterion servedas a basis-notnecessarilythe solebasis,but a

basis-fortheadverseemploymentaction.” Id. (citationsomitted). If the plaintiff meetsthis burden,

thenthe “burdenof proofshifts to the employerto establishby apreponderanceof the evidencethat

the samedecisionwould havebeenmaderegardlessof the forbiddenfactor.” Id. at 415. (internal

quotationmarksandcitationsomitted).

If aplaintiff doesnot havedirectevidenceof retaliation,thenhis claim is analyzedunder

the traditionalburden-shiftingframeworkof McDonnellDouglas. SeeKanida v. GulfCoastMed.

PersonnelLP, 363 F.3d568, 577 (5th Cir. 2004) (notingretaliationclaimsunderthe FLSA are

subjectto theTitle VII McDonnellDouglasburden-shiftinganalysis). To establisha claim of

retaliationunderthis method,a plaintiff mustdemonstratethat he: (1) engagedin aprotected

activity; (2) thatan adverseactionoccurred;and(3) that a causallink existsbetweenthe protected

activity andthe adverseaction. Fabela,329 F.3dat414; seealso Moran, 2007 WL 3256571,at *2

(citationomitted);James,29 F.Supp.2dat752. If plaintiff meetshis initial burden,the burdenof

productionshifts to the defendantto presenta legitimate,non-retaliatoryreasonfor the adverse

2Although the Fifth Circuit hasnot specificallyaddressedthe methodof presentingdirect
evidenceof retaliationunderthe FLSA, the Courtusesthe methodsetforth in Fabela in the context
of a claim underTitle VII of the Civil RightsAct of 1964 (“Title VII”), 42 U.S.C. §2000e,etseq.
329 F.3dat415. “The retaliationprovisionof the FLSA useslanguagenearlyidenticalto thatof
Title VII. Consequently,decisionsinterpretingTitle VII areinstructive in casesinvolving the
FLSA.” Moran v. CeilingFansDirect, Inc., Civil Action No. H-06-0813,2007 WL 3256571,at *5
n.1 (S.D. Tex.Nov. 5, 2007).
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employmentaction. If the defendantmeetsits burden,the burdenof proofshifts to the plaintiff to

showthatthereasonis unworthyof credenceor is pretextfor retaliation. Haganv. Echostar

Satellite,L.L.C., 529 F.3d617, 624 (5thCir. 2008).

Plaintiffs assertthattheyhavebothdirect andcircumstantialevidenceof retaliation. They

rely on the directmethodto provethat the City engagedin allegedactsof discriminationby

rescindingthe collectivebargainingagreement(“CBA”) betweenit andthe Union andby Chief

Bryant’sdecisionto “lockdown” all firefightersatthefire stationduring their shifts. Alternatively,

Plaintiffs contendthattheycanestablish,via theMcDonnellDouglastest, thatthe City is liable

both for theseactionsandChiefBryant’sApril 11, 2006 restrictionof time trading.

The City arguesthatPlaintiffs havefailed to presentdirect evidenceof retaliation. Under

the circumstantialevidencetest, the City arguesthatPlaintiffs havefailed to establishthat theywere

subjectedto materiallyadverseactionsandthatthoseactionswerecausallyconnectedto their

protectedactivities. The City also contendsthatPlaintiffs haveno evidenceto supportoneof the

claimedactsof retaliationandthatanotheractwasneverproperlyalleged.

1. Direct Evidence

Plaintiffs rely on the following statementsas direct evidenceof retaliation:

• On August22, 2006,ChiefBryantstatedto Union PresidentJeselinkthat
“the Union isjeopardizingits contractby pushingtheseissues.”

• In December2006,ChiefBryantstatedthat“he had ‘locked down’ the
firefighters,restrictingtheir ability to leavethe fire stationfor groceriesor
meals‘in retaliationto the Union’ or wordsto thateffect.”

• After the lawsuitwas filed, Ryals told a firefighter, Bryan Boudreaux,thathe
“was going to regrethavingmy nameon the lawsuit list. . . involving the
Chief”

[Doc. No. 109, pp. 8-9,Exhs. 1, 12, & 34].
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The City contendsthatneitherof ChiefBryant’sstatementsconstitutedirectevidenceof

discriminationandthatRyals’sstatementis not thatof a supervisorand,thus, not attributableto the

City.

The Court finds thatneitherChiefBryant’sAugust22, 2006 statementnorRyals’s

statementto Boudreauxis directevidenceof retaliation. Neitherstatementshowson its facethatan

impropercriterion servedas at leastpart of the motivationfor anadverseaction. Ryals’s statement,

evenif attributableto the City, is nothingmorethanan emptythreatwithout atie to anyspecific

actiontakenby the City. Further,as the City notes,Ryalswasnot a supervisor,nor did shespeak

on a matteroverwhich sheheldthe authorityor ability to actfor the City.3 ChiefBryant

specificallyreferredto the Unioncontractor CBA in his allegedAugust2006statement,but ajury

would haveto infer thatthe City Council’sactionin rescindingandrefusingto reinstatethe CBA

morethanoneyearlater, in October2007,was tiedto ChiefBryant’sexpressedanimus. The fact

thatPlaintiffs hadto explainthe circumstancessurroundingthe City’s rescissionandfailure to

reinstatethe CBA demonstratesthat, while ChiefBryant’sstatementmaybe somecircumstantial

evidenceof a retaliatorymotive, it is not direct evidence.

However, ChiefBryant’s remainingadmissionthathe lockeddownthe firefightersbecause

ofthe Union’s complaintsis direct evidenceof retaliation. The City contendsthatBooth’s

testimonyis inadequatebecausehe cannotrecall ChiefBryant’sexactwords. Boothis clearthat

ChiefBryantadmittedthathe lockeddown the trucksandwould not permitthe firefightersto leave

the stationsbecauseof the Union’s actions,whetherChiefBryantspecificallyusedthe word

3Forexample,the Courtwould find Plaintiffs’ argumentmorecompellingif Ryalshad
threatenedto useher positionasFiscalCoordinatorto takeamateriallyadverseactionagainst
Plaintiffs.
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“retaliation” or not. Further,he doesrecall, specifically,thatChiefBryantsaidhe was“wrong.”

This is enoughevidencethatretaliationwasa basis,if not the solebasis,for ChiefBryant’s lock

down.

BecausePlaintiffs haveproduceddirect evidencethatthelock down was retaliatory,the

burdenof proof(notproduction)shifts to the City to demonstratethat it would havetakenthe same

actionin the absenceof the illegal motive. Fabela,329 F.3dat 415. Accordingto ChiefBryant’s

depositiontestimony,he instituteda lock downpolicy to addressproblemswith firefighters’

personaluseof fire trucks,their useof fire truckswithout notifying dispatch,andtheirneedless

wasteof fuel. [Doc. No. 62, Exh. 6, ChiefBryantDepo.,pp. 70-73]. Thus,ChiefBryantdisputes

his allegedearlieradmissionwith this testimony. The City alsopointsout thatthe lock down

appliedto all firefighters,not justPlaintiffs.

The City alsorelies on evidencethat, four monthslater, in January2007,ChiefBryant

relaxedthe lock down, sothat firefighterscan leavetheir stationsfor food,but mustget orders“to

go” anytime after 3:00 P.M. The firefightersmayalsonow traveloutsidetheir district if thereis no

restaurant,as longas theyget anorderto go.

The Court finds thatthereis a genuineissueof material fact for trial on Plaintiffs’ claimthat

the City retaliatedagainstthem by instituting a lock down. Althoughthe City hasproduceda

legitimate,non-retaliatoryreasonfor the lock down andhassincerelaxedthe restrictions,the Court

cannotconcludeas a matterof law thatChiefBryantwould haveinstituteda lock down, evenin the

absenceof the retaliatorymotive. By his testimony,ChiefBryantessentiallydisputeswhat he

allegedlyadmittedto Booth,which is a credibility determinationfor thejury. Further,the fact that

the lock downappliedto all firefightersis of no assistanceto the Courtwhen approximatelyeighty
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percentof theMFD aremembersof the Union, andall Union membersarePlaintiffs in this

lawsuit.4 Accordingly, the City’s Motion for PartialSummaryJudgmenton this claim is DENIED.

The Court now turns to Plaintiffs’ remainingclaims.

2. Circumstantial Evidence

Plaintiffs’ remainingclaimswill be analyzedunderthe McDonnell-Douglasframework.

The Court finds, first, thatPlaintiffs engagedin a FLSA-protectedactivity by raisingFLSA “issues

in January2006” andby, ultimately,“filing . . . this lawsuit in June,2006.”~[Doc. No. 62, p. 1]; see

Hagan,529 F.3dat 625-28 (“We adoptthe majority rule,which allowsan informal,internal

complaintto constituteprotectedactivity under[the FLSA],” but “not all abstractgrumblingsor

vagueexpressionsof discontentareactionableas complaints”;an employee“mustdo something

outsideof his or herjob role in order to signalto the employerthatheor sheis engagingprotected

activity.”) (internalquotationmarksomitted).

However,the City contendsthatPlaintiffs cannotestablishthe remainderof their prima

facie casebecausecertainallegedacts of retaliationarenot “materially adverse,”andbecause

Plaintiffs cannotshowthat thereis a causalconnectionbetweentheirprotectedactivitiesandthe

41n this Motion for PartialSummaryJudgment,theCity hasarguedseveraltimesthat the
allegedactsof retaliationwereapplicableto all employeesoftheMFD. While that argumentis
factuallytrue,asa generalpropositionit is of little help to theCourt’s analysisofwhetherthe
City is entitled to summaryjudgment. This caseis not typical in manyways. Onedifferenceis
what theCourthaspointedout: eightypercentof thepersonsaffectedby theseactsarePlaintiffs.
Thus, if ChiefBryant(orothersactingon behalfoftheCity) choseto retaliateagainstPlaintiffs,
thejury maywell infer thattheothertwentypercentof MFD employeeswerejust collateral
damage. On theotherhand,evidencethatpoliciesor acts,suchasthetelephoneusagepolicy,
applicableto all employeesoftheCity, not justtheMFD, militatesagainstsuchan inference
withoutadditionalevidence.

5At leastfor purposesof summaryjudgment,the City concedesthis point.
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retaliatoryacts alleged.

a. Materially Adverse Actions

In BurlingtonNorthern& SantaFeRailwayCo. v. White, 548 U.S. 53 (2006),the Supreme

Court consideredthe “reach” of Title VIl’s anti-retaliationprovisionandthe meaningof theterms

“discriminate against.” Id. at57. Ultimately, the SupremeCourt heldas follows:

We concludethatthe anti-retaliationprovisiondoesnot confinethe actionsand
harmsit forbids to thosethat are relatedto employmentor occuratthe workplace.
We alsoconcludethattheprovisioncoversthose(andonly those)employeractions
thatwouldhavebeenmaterially adverseto a reasonableemployeeor job applicant.
In the presentcontextthatmeansthatthe employer’sactionsmustbe harmfulto the
point that theycould well dissuadea reasonableworker from makingor supportinga
chargeof discrimination.

Id. at 68 (internalquotationmarksomitted). The Court explainedthat “[t]he anti-retaliation

provisionprotectsan individual not from all retaliation,but from retaliationthatproducesan injury

or harm,” andnotedthat it “speak[s]of materialadversitybecause. . . it is importantto separate

significant from trivial harms.” Id. at 67-68.

The Court finds thatcertainof the allegedactsarenot materiallyadverseand, thus, the City

is entitledto summaryjudgmenton theseclaims.

(1) Prohibiting on-duty firefighters from attending union
meetings

In their Third AmendedComplaint,Plaintiffs list as oneof the actsof retaliationthaton-duty

firefighterswereprohibited from attendingUnion meetings.In discoveryresponses,Plaintiffs

identified severalfirefighterswho weredirectly prohibitedfrom attendingUnionmeetingsor who

werepreventedfrom attendingthe meetingsbecauseof ChiefBryant’spolicy thatonly one truck
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couldbe out in eachdistrict.6 See[Doc. No. 62, Exh. 1, Plaintiffs’ discoveryresponses,Exh. E].

In their oppositionmemorandumto this Third Motion for PartialSummaryJudgment,Plaintiffs list

in the facts sectionthat, on May 2, 2006,ChiefBryant informedtheUnion that it could no longer

hold meetingsatFire Station#1, wherethe meetingshadbeenheldfor as long as anyonecould

remember.

In his Declaration,ChiefBryantexplainsthathe only “proposed”moving the Union

meetingsto anotherlocationbecausehe believedthattheywere an inappropriateuseof public

propertyandinterferedwith the work of firefightersat Fire Station#1 (also calledCentralStation).

[Doc. No. 121, Exh. 1, ChiefBryantDec.,¶30]. However, becausethis wasnot a “critical” problem

andthe firefightersopposedanychange,ChiefBryantdid not movethe locationof the Union

meetings;the Union continuesto meetat Fire Station#1.

ChiefBryantoriginally alsohada policy for a shorttime of not allowing on-dutyfirefighters

to attendUnionmeetingsunlessthe firefighterswereassignedto FireStation#1, wherethe meetings

areheld. ChiefBryanttestifiedthathe passedthe station duringaUnion meeting,andtherewere

“trucks everywhere,”eventhoughtherewasa “tower rescuegoing on in WestMonroe,” sohecalled

a DeputyChiefto dealwith the situation. [Doc. No. 62, Exh. 6, Rule30(b)(6)Depo.,pp. 94-95].

Union PresidentJeselinktestifiedthatthe originalpolicy “affectedmorale” andthe ability of

membersto stayinformed. However,he admittedthatthe Unionmemberswho attendedthe

6PlaintiffsRobertArrant, Mark McConaughey,RonnieLockwood,SamuelBrothers,
David Ponthieux,NealScmitt,HaroldArrant, CarlDunn,Matt Delcoure,BryantNugent,Shane
Wink, RickieRedding,JasonBennett,BryanBoudreaux,Ken Hasley,JeffO’Bier, Richard
Lockwood,andJohnGreenall allegethattheywerepreventedin somewayfrom attending
Unionmeetings.[Doc. No. 62, Exh. 1, Plaintiffs’ discoveryresponses,Exh. E]. Although Stacy
Robertsonalsoallegedthathe waspreventedfrom attendingUnionmeetings,Robertsonhas
sincewithdrawnhis retaliationclaim.
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meetingscould havedisseminatedtheinformationto othermembers.

Additionally, Jeselinkexplainedthatwhentheytalkedwith ChiefBryant,he changedthe

policy, so thatonetruckfrom eachdistrict canattendthe meetings.Jeselinkadmittedthat

firefightersoutsidetheir district couldnot respondas quickly as theycouldto any emergencyif they

werein their district.

Notably, in their oppositionmemorandum,Plaintiffs do nothingotherthanidentify Chief

Bryant’schangeof the locationof the Unionmeetings. They do not argueor presentanyevidence

relatedto claimsthat theywererestrictedin someway from attendingUnion meetings.

Basedon a reviewof the recordevidence,the Court finds thatPlaintiffs’ allegations

regardingtheirattendanceatandthe locationof Unionmeetingsdo not riseto the level of a

materially adverseactionthatwould quell a reasonableperson’sFLSA complaints. In fact, the

undisputedevidenceshowsthatChiefBryantchosenot to movethe locationof Unionmeetingsand

thathe changedthe policy on attendanceatUnion meetingsafter firefighterstalked to him aboutthe

policies. The City’s Motion for PartialSummaryJudgmenton this claimedactof retaliation is

GRANTED.

(2) Telephoneusagepolicy

In his deposition,Jeselinkclaimedthat theCity implementedatelephoneusagepolicy,

effectiveSeptember1, 2006,as anactof retaliation. The policy’s statedpurposeandscopewasas

follows:

This Policy establishesguidelinesfor the appropriateusageof telephoneequipment
ownedby the City of Monroe(the City), andoutlinesthe expectedrecoursefor
documentedmisuseof suchpropertyandservices. It appliesto all full andpart-time
employeesof the City, includinghourly andsalariedemployees,regardlessof the
user’s location. Equipmentcoveredby thispolicy includescity ownedPDA’s,
cellularhandheldcomputerssuchas BlackberriesandTreos,traditionalwire line

-14-



telephones,facsimilemachines,modems,andcellulartelephones.It supplements
existingcomputing,internetandnetworkequipmentpolicies.

[Doc. No. 62, Exh. 2, JeselinkDepo.,Exh. 2, p. 2, Sec.I]. The policy providesthat “[t]he City’s

telephonesystemsareavailablefor the conductof official municipalbusinessin thedirect supportof

assigneddutiesandresponsibilitiesof users,andthedelivery of municipal services.”[Doc. No. 62,

Exh. 2, JeselinkDepo.Exh. 2, p. 2, Sec.II]. The policy calls for employeesto “exercisecommon

senseandgoodjudgmentin the personaluseof telephoneequipment,”andstates“personaluseshall

be reasonablybriefandinfrequentin nature,shallnot adverselyaffect the work performanceof the

employeeor thoseof the employees’work group,andshallnot createthe appearanceof

impropriety.” [Doc. No. 62, Exh. 2, JeselinkDepo.Exh. 2, p. 2, Sec.II]. Additional provisions

requireusersto comply with harassmentpoliciesandprohibitor discouragecertaintypes of calls.

The City contendsthatthe two-pagetelephoneusagepolicy is, on its face,areasonable

regulationrelatingto useof City propertyandminimizing City expensesandis applicableto all City

employees.The City arguesthat the implementationof the policy is not amateriallyadverseaction

andwasnot retaliatory. Plaintiffs havenot respondedto this argument.

The Court agreeswith the City thatthe adoptionof this faciallyneutralandreasonable

telephoneusagepolicy, applicableto all City employees,is not a materiallyadverseaction. The

City’s Motion for PartialSummaryJudgmenton this claimedactof retaliation is GRANTED.

(3) Criminal background checks

Finally, the City arguesthatPlaintiffs haveno evidenceto supporttheir claim that firefighters

weresubjectedto retaliatorycriminal backgroundchecks. Plaintiffs identifiedRandall

McConaughey(“McConaughey”)andStacyReynolds(“Reynolds”) as personswherewereaffected

by this allegedadverseaction,but McConaugheydeniedthathe hada criminal backgroundcheck
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claim, andReynoldswithdrewhis entire retaliationclaim. [Doc. No. 62, Exh. 3 McConaughey

Depo.,pp. 47-48,53-54]. The City presentedundisputedevidencefrom formerChiefInvestigator

David Hill that criminalbackgroundcheckswerenot run on currentemployees.Plaintiffs havenot

opposedthe City’s argumentor evidence.BecausePlaintiffs havefailed to presentevidencethat this

actionwas takenat all, theycannotshowthattheywere subjectedto amateriallyadverseaction.

Therefore,the City’s Motion for Partial SummaryJudgmenton this claim is GRANTED.

b. Causal Connection

The City arguesthatPlaintiffs havefailed to establisha causalconnectionbetweentheir

protectedactivitiesandthe following allegedactsof retaliation:(1) prohibiting firefightersfrom

trading shiftsor time; (2) forcing firefightersto “step-up” or work shifts in placeof ahigher

rankingmemberof the fire department;(3) forcingrecentlyretiredfirefightersto forfeit earned

vacation;(4) transferringthe Union President,Vice-president,andSecretary-treasurerto less

desirablepositionsand/orlocations;(5) enforcementofthesick leavepolicy; and(6)

rescission/attemptedrescissionof the CBA. The City contendsthatPlaintiffs havefailed to present

anyevidenceat all in supportof their claim thatthe City conductedretaliatorycriminal background

checks.

Plaintiffs haveprovidedthe Courtwith a timeline of eventswhich showthe closetiming

betweenthe protectedactivitiesandthe allegedretaliatoryacts. Plaintiffs alsorely on statementsby

ChiefBryantandothersto supporttheseclaims.

At the prima facie stage,”closetiming betweenan employee’sprotectedactivity andan

adverseactionagainst[the employee]mayprovidethe ‘causalconnection’required”to show thatthe

protectedactivity was amotivatingfactor in the adverseactions. Evansv. City ofHouston,246 F.3d
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344, 354 (5thCir. 2001)(citing Swansonv. Jen. Servs.Admin.,110 F.3d 1180,1188 (5thCir.

1997)). The causallink requiredby the third prongdoesnot riseto the levelof a “but for” standard

atthe primafacie stage. Geev. Principi, 289 F.3d342, 345 (5th Cir. 2002). “[A] time lapseof up to

four monthshasbeensufficientto satisfythe causalconnectionfor summaryjudgmentpurposes.”

Evans,246 F.3dat 354 (quoting Weeksv. NationsBank,NA., No. Civ. A. 3:98-CV-1352M,

2000 WL 341257at*3 (N.D. Tex.March30, 2000); seealso Jonesv. RobinsonProp. Group, L.P.,

427 F.3d987, 995 (5th Cir. 2005); cf Raggsv. Miss.Power& Light Co.,278 F.3d463, 47 1-72 (5th

Cir. 2002) (holdingthata five-monthlapse,by itself, doesnot supportan inferenceof a causallink);

Ajao v. BedBathandBeyond,Inc., 265 Fed.Appx. 258, 265 (5thCir. 2008)(whereplaintiff relied

“solely” on the factthat theadverseactiontookplacefour monthsafterhefiled an EEOCcharge,the

Fifth Circuit held “temporalproximity. . . [was] not closeenough,without additionalsupporting

summary-judgmentevidence,to establisha causalconnection.”).

Plaintiffs andtheUnionbegancomplainingaboutFLSA issuesin November2005,sent

lettersfrom their retainedlegal counselin JanuaryandFebruary2006,and, after continued

negotiationefforts, filed suitin June2006. Plaintiffs complainthatChiefBryantandthe City began

to subjectthem to retaliatory actsas earlyas April 2006. The City arguesthatPlaintiffs cannot

establishthe temporalelementbecausetheycomplainedfirst in November2005,morethanfour

monthsbeforeChiefBryant’schangeto the time tradingpolicy in April 2006. However,that

argumentignoresthe factsin this case: Plaintiffs continuedto complainof FLSAissuesafter

November2005andbegantakingmoreaggressivestepsto obtaina responsefrom the City by

retainingcounselwho activelyattemptedto obtaina responsefrom the City in JanuaryandFebruary

2006,andwho, after the eventsof April andMay 2006,notified the City of Plaintiffs’ intentto file
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suit. Further,Plaintiffs do not rely on the timing of ChiefBryant’sactionsaloneto supporttheir

prima facecase;theyhavepointedto statementsevidencinghis hostility to the firefighters’ Union

andadmitting thathe took atleastoneretaliatoryactionagainstthe Union. Giventhe timeline of

eventsin this matterandthe disputedevidenceof hostility allegedlydisplayedby ChiefBryant, the

Courtfinds thatPlaintiffs havemettheir primafacie burden.

c. Pretext/Mixed Motive

OncePlaintiffs havemettheirprimafacieburden,the City mustproducelegitimate,non-

retaliatoryreasonsfor eachof the complained-ofactions. If the City’s reasonsexplain“both the

adverseactionandthe timing” of the action,then,in orderto meettheirburdenon pretext,Plaintiffs

“must offer someevidencefrom whichthejury mayinfer thatretaliationwas the realmotive.”

McCoyv. City ofShreveport,492 F.3d551, 562 (5th Cir. 2007)(emphasisadded).

Alternatively, undera mixed-motivetheory,see[Doc. No. 109, p. 18], Plaintiffs can offer

evidencethatraisesa genuineissueof material fact for trial whetherretaliationwasat leastoneof

the motivesfor the complained-ofactions. SeeSmithv. XeroxCorp., 584 F.Supp.2d905,912

(N.D. Tex. Oct. 31, 2008)(andcasescitedtherein); seealso Rachidv. Jackin theBox,376F.3d

305,312(5thCir. 2004) (UnderthemodifiedMcDonnellDouglas framework,onceaplaintiff has

establishedaprimafaciecaseandthe defendanthasproduceda legitimate,non-discriminatory

reasonfor its action,thentheplaintiff needonly produceevidencesufficient to createagenuine

issueofmaterialfact “that the defendant’sreason,while true, is only oneof thereasonsfor its

conduct,andanother‘motivating factor’ is the plaintiff’s protectedcharacteristic.”).7

71n their oppositionmemorandum,Plaintiffs argue,alternatively,that theycanshow
mixedmotive, evenif theycannotshowpretext. The City doesnot addressthis contentionin its
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The Courtnow considerseachactionin turnto determineif the City hasmettheir burdenof

productionand,if so, if Plaintiffs havemet theirburdenof proofto showpretextor mixedmotive.

(1) Prohibiting firefighters from trading shifts or time

Tradingshifts or “time trading” takesplacewhenonefirefighter substituteshis scheduled

shift for that of anotherfirefighterof thesamerankorposition. It is undisputedthat this practice

is permittedby theFLSA and statelaw. See29 U.S.C. § 2O7(p)(3);La. Rev. Stat.14:138B(2). It

is alsoundisputedthattime tradinghaslong beenapracticeoftheMFD firefighters. Finally, at

leastfor purposesofsummaryjudgment,it is undisputed,thatthechangein thetime trading

policy wasmateriallyadverse,atleastto somefirefighters. [Doc. No. 109, pp. 15-16(examplesof

firefighterswhosesecondjobs, educationalopportunities,andattendanceatchildren’sorchurch

replymemorandum.However,theCourtnotesthat theFifth Circuit hasnot directlyaddressed
the issuewhetherthemixed-motiveanalysisappliesto aretaliationclaimunderTitle VII or the
FLSA. Cf McCullough v.HoustonCty, Tex.,297Fed.Appx.282,2008WL 4613697,at *7 n. 7
(5th Cir. Oct.16, 2008)(Thecourthasnot “extendedtheholdingsof either [DesertPalace,Inc. v.
Costa,539U.S. 90 (2003)or] Rachid,soas to apply themixed-motivesanalysis”to Title VII
retaliationclaims.)(citationsomitted);Block v. Kelly Servs.,Inc., No. 05-20978,197 Fed.Appx.
346,348-49(5th Cir. Sept.7, 2006)(In aTitle VII retaliationclaim, if the employermeetsits
burdenof production,then“the burdenreturnsto Block to prove theprofferedreasonwasa
pretext,or, althoughnotpretext,wasonly oneofthereasonsshewasfired, anotherbeingher
protectedactivity.”) (citingRachid,376F.3dat312).

This Courtagreeswith theotherdistrict courtswho haveexaminedtheissueand
determinedthat “(1) amixed motivetheorycanapplyin Title VII retaliationclaims,and(2)a
Title VII retaliationmixedmotivecasedoesnot requiredirect evidence,but canberaisedby
circumstantialevidence.”Smith,584 F.Supp.2dat912(andcasescitedtherein);seealsoMartin
v. UT SouthwesternMed. Ctr., 2009WL 77871(N.D. Tex.,Jan.12, 2009)(citing Smith).
Further,becauseTitle VII caselaw is instructivein theFLSA context,the Courtalsofinds that
themixed-motiveanalysiswould applyto aFLSA retaliationclaim. SeeAguirre v. SBC
Commc’ns,Inc., Civil ActionNo. H-05-3198,2007WL 2900577,at * 27 (S.D. Tex.,Sept.30,
2007);seealsoRichardsonv. MonitronicsInt’l, Inc., 434F.3d 327(5th Cir. 2005)(extending
Rachidto retaliationclaimsundertheFamily andMedicalLeaveAct, 29 U.S.C. §~2601-53).
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activitieswereaffected)].

As Jeselinkadmits,ChiefBryant hasopposedtime tradingsincehe becameFire Chiefin

July 1998.[Doc. No. 109, Exh. 28, p. 85]. ChiefBryant testifiedthathe opposestimetrading

becausehe believesthat firefightersdo not gaintheexperiencetheyneedand losetheopportunity

to train with their crewsandto establishrelationships.[Doc.No. 62,Exh. 6, Rule30(b)(6)Depo.,

p. 92]. AlthoughChiefBryantannouncedhis intent to limit timetradingshortlyafter he became

Fire Chief, he later agreedthat he wouldnot immediatelytakeactionwith regardto thatpolicy.

[Doc. No. 62, Exh. 4, ChiefBryantDepo.,pp. 54-55].

In Augustor September2004,ChiefBryant reiteratedto Jeselinkthattime tradingwas

“off thetable.” [Doc. No. 109,Exh. 28, JeselinkDepo.,p. 85]. Jeselinkinterpretedthat statement

to meanthat therewould notbeachangein thetime tradingpolicy. Accordingto ChiefBryant,

hedid not imposetime tradingrestrictionsatthat time becausetherewassomedoubtthat asales

tax meantto increasefirefighters’ salarieswould pass.

In April 2005,thesalestaxdid pass,andthesalariesof firefightersincreasedsignificantly

(byapproximatelyforty percent).ChiefBryant testifiedthathe waiteduntil oneyearlater,in April

2006,to imposetimetradingrestrictions,in orderto allow firefightersto adjustto the changeand

that he would havedonesoregardlessof Plaintiffs’ FLSA claims.

Thus,the City hasproduceda legitimate,non-retaliatoryreasonfor ChiefBryant’s

oppositionto time tradingandchangeto thepolicy andan explanationof the timing of the action.

Jeselink’stestimony,offeredasrebuttalevidence,doesnot raiseagenuineissueof

materialfact for trial. Althoughhe believedChiefBryantintendedto withdraw thetime trading
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issuefrom considerationatall, he doesnot disputethatChiefBryanthadalong-standingposition

againsttime trading. Further,ChiefBryant’sexplanationfor waiting until April 2006 to change

thepolicy hasnotbeenrebutted. While the CourthasfoundthatChiefBryantallegedlyexpressed

someanimusto theUnion andevenallegedlyadmittedoneactof retaliation,thosefindings do not

meanthat everyactofretaliationallegedautomaticallygoesto trial. On this claim,despitethe

allegedharmto Plaintiffs, Plaintiffs havefailedto raiseagenuineissueofmaterialfact thatthe

City’s changein theMFD time tradingpolicy waspretextfor orwaspartiallymotivatedby

retaliationfor Plaintiffs’ FLSA-protectedactivities. Accordingly,theCity’s Motion for Partial

SummaryJudgmentis GRANTED on this allegedact.

(2) Forcing firefighters to “step-up”

“Step-up” or “acting out of class” meansone firefighter of the next lower

rank would be called to “step-up” a rank and acttemporarilyfor an absent

firefighter of the next higherrank, at thepay scaleof the absentfirefighter. It is

undisputedthat step-uppay is less than properlypaid overtimepay.

ChiefBryant testified that he believedin 2006 at the time he instituted a

changein policy that firefighterswere refusing to acceptstep-upassignmentsto

force the City to usefirefighterson overtime. [Doc. No. 62, Exh. 4, Chief

Bryant Depo., pp. 73-74]. Testimony from two Plaintiffs supportedChief

Bryant’s belief. Plaintiff Neil Schmittadmitted that he wasawareof the practice

of refusing step-upassignmentsto try to “even out overtime.” [Doc. No. 62, Exh.

7, Neil Schmitt Depo.,p. 34]. Plaintiff and DeputyChiefD. Finkbeineralso
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admitted that hewas familiar with the practiceand that it cost theCity more to

pay higherranking individuals overtime. [Doc. No. 62, Exh. 8, D. Finkbeiner

Depo.,pp. 29-30].

However,ChiefBryant saysthat refusalof step-upassignmentsis no

longera problem,sohe withdrew this policy.8

The City hasoffered legitimate,non-retaliatoryreasonsfor the step-up

policy, and Plaintiffs havepresentedthe Courtwith no specific evidenceto

disputethe City’s explanationfor the policy or the timing of thepolicy, and,

thus, theyhave failed to establishthat thecity’s explanationis pretextualor

motivatedin part by retaliation. The City’s Motion for Partial Summary

Judgmenton this allegedact of retaliation is GRANTED.

(3) Forcing recently retired firefighters to forfeit earned
vacation

Firefighters’ entitlementto vacationis addressedbothby statuteandundertheCBA.

UnderLa. Rev. Stat.33:1996, firefighters are entitled to “annual vacation of

eighteendayswith full pay.” The statutefurther providesthat thevacation

periodis “increasedone day for eachyear of serviceover tenyears,up to a

maximum vacation period of thirty days.” La. Rev. Stat. 33:1996. The most

recentCBA providesthat, in pertinentpart:

8ChiefBryant’sstatementis confusing. If firefighterswerenotpermittedto refuseastep-
up assignment,then,of course,thereis no problemwith firefightersrefusingstepups.
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Vacationsshallbe allotted eachemployeeas
follows: first thru fourth anniversarydateof continuous
service- 9 shifts; fifth thru ninth anniversarydate
continuousservice- 11 shifts; tenth thru fourteenth
anniversarydateof continuousservice- 14 shifts;
fifteen yearsand aboveof continuousservice- 16
shifts. Unusedvacationdaysmayaccumulatefor a
maximum of 40 shifts (960 hours) andbe treatedthe
sameasprescribedin the City of MonroeEmployee
Handbook...

[Doc. No. 62, Exh. 16, SteveNealy Depo.,Exh. 1, pp. 3-4, ¶X].

ChiefBryant explainedin January3, 2007 correspondenceto the Union,

theMFD’s methodfor determiningvacationdays for retiring firefighters:

Vacation days when retiring
Membersare awardeddays/shiftsbasedon their
anniversarydate. This works the sameasa salary.
For exampleif you work Mondaythrough Friday and
arepaid 100 perday the total is $500.00 however,if
you miss a dayyou only receivethe amountworked.
Another Example: If a membergetstwelve shifts for
his/her anniversarydatebut choosesto leaveearly
thenhis time will be proratedbasedon the numberof
monthsactuallyworked.

[Doc. No. 62, Exh. 4, ChiefBryant Depo.,Exh. 12, p. 2, ¶11]. Accordingto the

City, Plaintiffs complainabout theproration policy as explainedin Chief

Bryant’s correspondencebecausethevacationtime accumulateson the

anniversarydateof employment,rather than on a yearly basis.

However,whetheror not the City’s calculationof vacationpay for retiring
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firefighters is correct,9Plaintiffs have presentedno evidenceshowingthat the

City’s basis for that calculationis pretext for or motivatedby retaliation. In

fact, the City points to depositiontestimonyby two Plaintiffs, Harold Bruce

Moore andEdgarWink, in which they admit that theydo not believethat Chief

Bryant retaliated against them. [Doc .No. 62, Exh. 14, Harold Bruce Moore

Depo.,pp. 19, 29; Exh. 15, EdgarWink Depo.,p. 19].

The City’s Motion for Partial SummaryJudgmenton this allegedactof

retaliation is GRANTED.

(4) Transferring the Union President,Vice-president,and
Secretary-treasurer to lessdesirablepositionsand/or
locations

It is undisputedthat on May 1, 2006,ChiefBryant transferredJeselink,Dickerson,and

McConaugheyto differentpositionsandlocations. Thetransfertookplacesix monthsafterthey

first complainedaboutFLSA issues,two monthsafterthe last letterfrom theirattorney,andthe

monthbeforetheyfiled suit. ChiefBryanttestifiedthatJeselink,Dickerson,andMcConaughey

weretransferredbecauseoftheir“attitude.” [Doc. No. 62,Exh. 4, ChiefBryantDepo.,pp. 5 8-60].

He allegedthatJeselink“would turnhis backwhenmembersofadministrationwould cometo

work” andwould speak“[v]ery little.” Heallegedthat Dickerson“routinelymadecommentsin

the fire station - thecocksucker,motherfuckerandall this typeof stuff.” [Doc. No. 62, Exh. 4,

9TheCourthasnotconsideredwhetherthecalculationby theCity is correctunderthe
statute.
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ChiefBryantDepo.,pp. 58-60]. ChiefBryant alsosaidthat McConaugheyengagedin “negative

talk.” [Doc. No. 62,Exh. 4, ChiefBryantDepo.,pp. 59-60]. OnMay 1st, ChiefBryantalso

transferredthirty otherpeople“dueto promotions,membercomplacency,inactivity andmoral

decline.”[Doc. No. 62, Exh. 4, ChiefBryantDepo.,Exh. 6, for incompletetransferlist; Ex. 2,

JeselinkDepo.,p.25,Exh. 7, for completetransferlist]. He deniesthat the Jeselink,Dickerson,

andMcConaugheytransfersweredisciplinaryandpointsout thatDickersonwaslaterpromoted.

In response,Plaintiffs providespecificevidenceofthenatureof thetransfersof each

employee.Prior to his transfer,JeselinkservedasEMS/SafetySupervisoron Med 1 andwas

stationedat amulti-truck station. [Doc. No. 109, Exh. 24, JeselinkDeclaration]. Jeselinkhad

beenprovidedwith specializedtrainingin orderto provideemergencymedicalservicesfor

seriouscalls,suchascardiacarrest,housefires, automobileaccidents,andhazardousmaterials.

Jeselinkhadthediscretionto determineif callsrequiredspecializedmedicalservicesandto travel

to thosecalls, evenif hewerenot dispatched.In this position,Jeselinkwason theMed 1 truck

alone,reporteddirectly to a deputychief,anddid not fight fires. ChiefBryanttransferredJeselink

to anenginecompanyat asingletruck stationwherehe reportsto adistrictchiefandis requiredto

fight fires.

ChiefBryantalsotransferredMcConaugheyfrom Med 1 to an enginecompanywith the

samechangesin workingconditionsasJeselink.

ChiefBryant transferredDickersonfrom Engine 102to Engine109without consuulting

him. Dickerson’sdeputychieftold him thatChiefBryantwantedhimmoved.[Doc. No. 109,

Exh. 10, DickersonDepo.,pp. 44-46].
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In addition,the Court hasconsideredotherfactors. TheCity’s evidenceofprior transfers

andthe laterpromotionof Dickersonis not dispositive. Therecordshowsthatpromotionswere

madeon thebasisof civil serviceexaminationsandseniority,not asubjectiveevaluationofan

employee’sskills by ChiefBryant. Likewise,prior transfersof theseor otheremployeesis not

evidencethatthesetransfers,to lessdesirablepositionsor locations,werenot retaliatory. Finally,

the Courtcannotignorethe fact thatChiefBryanttransferredthe threetop officersof the Union

on thesameday.

Basedon therecordevidence,the Court finds thatPlaintiffs haveraisedagenuineissueof

materialfact for trial that thereasonsgivenfor thetransfersof Jeselink,Dickerson,and

McConaugheywerepretextfor retaliation. TheCity’s Motion for PartialSummaryJudgmenton

this allegedactof retaliationis DENIED.

(5) Enforcement of the sick leavepolicy

Plaintiffs alsocontendthat theCity retaliatedagainstthemby enforcingits 2001 sick leave

policy. In aJune26, 2007memoto “All Personnel,”ChiefBryantstatedasfollows:

This is to advisethatin thepastfew yearsour sick leavepolicy hasnot
beenfollowed as strictly asperhapsit shouldhavebeen. Pleasenotethat
henceforththesickleavepolicywill be adheredto strictly. If you haveany
concernsor questionspleasetalk to your immediatesuperiorfirst but if youstill
havequestions,know thatmy door is alwaysopen.

[Doc. No. 62, Exh. 4, ChiefBryantDepo.,Exh. 14]. Plaintiffs contendthat thesick leavepolicy

wasnot enforcedprior to this time andthatChiefBryantonly beganenforcingthepolicy in June

2007 in retaliationfor the filing of the lawsuit.

UnderLa. Rev. Stat.33:1995,firefightersare“entitledto full payduringsicknessor
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incapacitynotbroughtaboutby his own negligenceorculpableindiscretionfor aperiodofnot

lessthanfifty-two weeks.” UndertheMFD policy, anemployeeon sick leaveshallremainin his

orherresidenceorplaceofconfinementfor theentiresick leaveperiodexceptto visit a

physician,hospitalorclinic for treatment;to purchasemedicine;to purchasefoodor mealsat their

placeof confinement;to vote; or to engagein specificallyapprovedlimited activity. [Doc. No. 62,

Exh. 2, JeselinkDepo.,Exh. 16]. Both ChiefBryantandDeputyChiefD. Finkbeinertestified

that, in thetime periodbeforeChiefBryant issuedhis memo,therewasincreasedabuse.[Doc.

No. 62, Exh. 4, ChiefBryantDepo.,pp. 76-77;Doc. No. 62, Exh. 8, D. FinkbeinerDepo.,pp. 26-

27; Doc.41, ¶19; Ex. 8, p. 13]. For example,ChiefBryantpointedout that employeeswere

doingsuchthingsasskiing, building houses,andtaking careof horses.

In response,Plaintiffs rely on thetestimonyofWayneDuke(“Duke”). Duketestifiedthat,

afterhe sufferedabrokenelbow on June23,2007, andtook sick leave,hewasdeniedpermission

to getapartto fix his toilet. Accordingto Duke,ChiefBryantaskedhow Dukewasgoingto

repairatoiletwith abrokenelbow. AlthoughDukeexplainedthat he wasgoing to havehis

seven-year-oldsonactuallyinstall thepart,ChiefBryantdeniedhimpermission.Duke,who is a

singleparent,wasalsodeniedpermissionto takehis sonto seehis grandmotheror to gethis hair

cut. [Doc. No. 109, Exh. 21, DukeDepo.,p. 5].

A monthlater,onJuly 22nd,Dukewasgivenpermissionto visit his mother;on July25th

hewasgivenpermissionto havehis son’shair cut; andon July 27th,all restrictionswerelifted.

[Doc. No. 121, Exh. 4, DukeDepo.,pp. 18,29].

The City hasprovided an explanationfor both theenforcementof thesickleavepolicy and
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thetiming ofthat enforcement.Thus,Plaintiffs wererequiredto offer evidencefrom which the

jurymayinfer thatretaliationwasthemotive (pretext)orwasat leastoneof themotives(mixed

motive) for theenforcementof thepolicy. TheevidenceofferedplacestheCourtin adilemma.

Duke’s testimonydoesnotprovideevidencethatChiefBryant’sdecisionto (or announcementof

thedecisionto) enforcethepolicywaspretextfor retaliationor partiallymotivatedby aretaliatory

motive.10 However,Duke’s testimonydoesraiseagenuineissueof material fact for trial whether

ChiefBryant’sapplicationof the policy to him wasbasedon an honestdesireto curbabuses,

ratherthana desireto retaliateagainstoneoftheFLSA Plaintiffs. TheCity placesweighton the

fact thatDuke’srestrictionswerelifted onemonthlater. However,the lifting of therestrictions

only raisesmorequestionsin theCourt’s mind. If suchastrict enforcementof thepolicy was

necessaryto curb abuses,thenwhy did ChiefBryant reversehimselfwithout explanation?

Further,whywereDuke’srestrictionscompletelylifted? Basedon ChiefBryant’sunreasonable

refusalto allowDuketo do simpleand/ornecessarytasksandhis unexplainedreversalof that

refusalamonthlater, thejury could infer thatChiefBryant’strue intentwasnot to enforcethe

sickleavepolicy, but to retaliateagainstDuke.

While Plaintiffs contendthatDuke’s treatmentwasonly one “example,” theCourthasnot

beenprovidedwith otherexamples.Accordingly,theCity’s Motion for PartialSummary

Judgmenton theenforcementofthe sick leavepolicy is GRANTED N PART andDENIED N

105ix monthsprior to issuanceofhis memo,in January2007,ChiefBryanthadsinus
surgeryandaversthathe adheredto thesamestrict sick leavepolicy. Specifically,he statesthat
anytimehe left his “place of convalescence”he notified dispatch.[Doc. No. 121, Exh. 1, ¶ 22].
Ofcourse,unlike the firefightersbelowhim, ChiefBryant didnot haveto obtainpermissioneach
time he left.
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PART. Plaintiffs havenotraisedagenuineissueof materialfact for trial on theenforcementof

the sick leavepolicy generally,but Plaintiff WayneDukehasraiseda genuineissueof material

fact for trial basedon theapplicationof thepolicy to him. TheCourt’sruling is subjectto

reconsideration,shouldPlaintiffs presentevidenceregardingenforcementof thepolicy asto other

individual Plaintiffs.

(6) Rescission/attemptedrescissionof the CBA

On May 10, 2007,the City Councilpassedan ordinanceapprovingthe proposedCBA with

the Unionfor 2007-2008. Mayor JamieMayo signedthe CBA on May 14, 2007. Despitethe

passageof six months,the Union hadnot signedthe CBA in October2007.

Thatmonth,on October17th, the Office of the LegislativeAuditor for the Stateof Louisiana

issuedan audit report,which questionedthe legality of the holiday payprovisionscontainedin the

2002-2003CBA. The sameholidayprovisionshadbeencarriedforwardwithout changein the

proposed2007-2008CBA.

The City andthe OuachitaParishPoliceJury,whichalso hada CBA with theUnion,

requestedanattorneygeneral’sopinionon the holiday payissue. While waiting for the opinion to

issue,theCity Councilwasadvisedthatthe proposedCBA did not havea severabilityclause. The

City Councilwas alsoadvisedthat the ordinanceapprovingthe proposed2007-2008CBA did not

havea deadlinefor signingthe agreement.Themembersfelt thatthereshouldbe a deadlinefor the

Union to sign within a certainperiodof time andthat, if the Union did not meetthe deadline,the

proposedCBA shouldbe void.

On October23, 2007, the City Councilmet. At thattime, the City Councilvotedto rescind

the prior ordinanceapprovingthe proposedCBA, sothat the City andthe Union would needto re-
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negotiatea CBA. Additionally, becausethe2002-2003CBA also lackeda severabilityclauseand

the City wantedto ensurethat it wasnot a partyto apossiblyillegal contract,the City Councilalso

approveda terminationordinancefor the 2002-2003CBA.

Plaintiffs initially arguedthatChiefBryant’sallegedAugust22, 2006statementto Jeselink

that “the Union is jeopardizingits contractby pushingtheseissues”was directevidenceof

retaliation. TheCourt rejectedthatargument,but the Court canconsiderChiefBryant’sstatementas

circumstantialevidenceof retaliation. Additionally, it is undisputedthatthe Attorney Generalhas

sinceissuedan opinion finding thatthe holidaypayprovisionsarelegal, but, on April 14, 2008,the

City againrefusedto reinstatethe CBA. The Court hasbeenprovidedwith no explanationfor that

latestrefusalin MayorMayo’s affidavit or otherwise.

Underthesecircumstances,the Courtfinds thatPlaintiffs havepresenteda genuineissueof

material fact for trial whetherthe City retaliatedagainstthem by rescindingandrefusingto reinstate

the CBA. The City’s Motion for SummaryJudgmenton this allegedactof retaliationis DENIED.

c. Other Claims

The City alsomovesfor summaryjudgmenton severalotherclaimswhich werenot listed in

Plaintiffs’ Third AmendedComplaint.

(1) City’s Counterclaim

Plaintiffs also allegethat theCity hasretaliatedagainstthem by filing a spurious

counterclaimseekingrepaymentof $980,000.00.[Doc. No. 109, pp. 4, 17 (claim is without “basisin

law or fact”). In its Reply, the City statesthat its counterclaimis authorizedunderLouisianalaw, but

pointsout that, “[i]n any event,[P]laintiffs did not allegethe counterclaimwasa retaliatoryact,and

it wasnot addressedin the motionpresentlyat issue.” [Doc. No. 121].
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The City asserteda counterclaimin its originalAnswerfiled on August24, 2006 [Doc. No.

3]. On August29, 2006,Plaintiffs answeredthe counterclaimandassertedas a defensethatthe

counterclaimwas“not warrantedby existinglaw andis presentedfor improperpurposes,including

harassment,in violation of FED. R. CIV. P. 11. Plaintiffs . . . areentitled to attorneys’feesandcosts

pursuantto FED. R. Civ. P. 1 1(c)(2).” [Doc. No. 6]. However,Plaintiffs’ answerdid not identify the

counterclaimas an actof retaliationunderthe FLSA.

Plaintiffs weregrantedleaveto amendtheirComplaintthreetimes,on August30, 2006,

January29, 2007,andJanuary15, 2008. See[Doc. Nos. 7, 11, & 41]. Plaintiffs first asserteda

FLSA retaliationclaimin their January29, 2007 SecondAmendedComplaint,but did not list the

City’s counterclaimin the actsof retaliation. [Doc. No. 11, ¶ 20 (TheCity’s “courseof retaliation

includes,but is not limited to” sevenidentified acts.)]. On March30, 2007,Plaintiffs filed a Motion

to DismissCounterclaim,but did not put the City on noticethat theycontendedthiscounterclaim

was an actof retaliationunderthe FLSA. [Doc.No. 15]. Evenin their January15, 2008Third

AmendedComplaint,Plaintiffs failed to identify the City’s counterclaimas anactof retaliation.

[Doc. No. 41,¶ 20 (TheCity’s “courseof retaliationincludes,but is not limited to” eight identified

acts.)].

FederalRuleof Civil ProcedureRule8(a)(2)requiresthata plaintiff recitea “short andplain

statementof the claim showingthatthe pleaderis entitled to relief” Fed.R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2) . To

complywith Rule8, aplaintiff’s statementof his claim “must simply ‘give the defendantfair notice

of what the plaintiff’s claim is andthegroundsuponwhich it rests.’ This simplified noticepleading

standardrelieson liberal discoveryrulesandsummaryjudgmentmotionsto definedisputedfacts

andissuesandto disposeof unmeritoriousclaims.” Gen. Elec. Capital Corp. v. Posey,415 F.3d

-31-



391, 396 (5thCir. 2005)(quotingSwierkiewiczv. SoremaNA., 534 U.S. 506, 512 (2002)(other

citationsomitted)). “Whethera complaintgives reasonablenoticeof a claim is a ‘purequestionof

law.”Bejilv. Ethicon,Inc., 269 F.3d477, 481 (5thCir. 2001)(citing Evansv. McClain ofGa., Inc.,

131 F.3d957,964n.2(llthCir. 1997)).

It is clearthat the City hadadequatenoticethatPlaintiffs areassertingretaliationas a cause

of actionunderthe FLSA. However, afterreviewingPlaintiffs’ complaintandthe recordthe Court

finds that,despiteampleopportunity,Plaintiffs did notpleador otherwisegivethe City notice that

theyintendedto rely on the City’s counterclaimto supportits retaliationclaim. Therefore,Plaintiffs

cannotrely on the City’s counterclaimas a basisfor its FLSA retaliationclaim.”

(2) Removalof personal items from fire stations

Althoughnot listedas an actof retaliationin anyof the complaintsin this matter,Plaintiffs

did raisethe removal of personalfurnitureandappliancesfrom the fire stationsin discovery,

specifically,the depositionof Jeselink.

The City contendsthatChiefBryantaddressedthisallegedactofretaliationin his affidavit. He

explainedthattheuseof personalfurniturehadresultedin the City’s furniturebeingimproperlystored

in engineroomsandthat the useof personalappliancescausedelectricaloverloads.[Doc. No.

121, Exh. 1,~J24-25].

First,as with theallegedretaliatorylockdowns,thisactionhasgreatersignificanceto firefighters

who work twenty-four-hourshifts than it might to a typical office worker. Plaintiffs describethe

111fPlaintiffs canproduceevidencethattheCity wasnotified throughthediscovery

processthatPlaintiffs wereassertingthecounterclaimasan allegedretaliatoryact, thenthe Court
will revisit this issue. Thereis no suchevidencebeforethe Courtat this time, however. See
[Doc. No. 62, Exh. 1, Plaintiffs’ discoveryresponses].
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furniturepurchasedby the City asthattypically found in amedicaloffice, i.e.,uncomfortable.Theuse

of personalappliancesandcomfortablefurnitureis significantto someoneworking atwenty-four-hour

shift. Second,ChiefBryanttook this actiononly onemonthafter Plaintiffs filed their lawsuit. Given

the closetemporalproximity andothercircumstantialevidenceof ChiefBryant’sanimus,theCourt finds

thatPlaintiffs haveraiseda genuineissueof materialfact for trial whetherthis actionwasmaterially

adverse,causallyconnectedto their protectedactivity, andwhetherChiefBryant’s explanationwas

pretextfor retaliation. Accordingly, the City’s Motion for Partial SummaryJudgmenton this alleged

actof retaliationis DENIED.

(3) Failure to pay overtime

In their opposition memorandum,Plaintiffs state that the City is failing to pay overtime

compensationin retaliationfortheirFLSA-protectedactivities. Thisstatementappearsto betiedto their

CBA rescissionclaim. [Doc.No. 109, p. 17]. If so,theCourt hasresolvedthatclaim as setforth above.

To the extent,however,thatPlaintiffs attemptto asserta claimbasedon the separateretaliatoryact of

failing to payovertimecompensation,the Court agreeswith the City thatPlaintiffs havefailed to plead

or otherwisegivetimely noticeto theCity ofthis claim. Thus,Plaintiffscannotrely on the City’s failure

to payovertime compensationas a basis for its FLSA retaliationclaim.’2 To the extentthatPlaintiffs

attemptto assertthe City’s failure to pay overtimecompensationas a separateactof retaliation,the

City’s Motion for PartialSummaryJudgmentis GRANTED.

(4) Remaining retaliation claims of Randall McConaughey

In addition to his complaintsabout time trading,sick leave and transfer,addressedabove,

12Obviously,Plaintiffs havepledaFLSA claimandcanrecoverif theycanprovethatthe
City failed to payovertime compensationcorrectly.
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McConaugheyallegesthat he was “singled out” for possibleviolation of law regardingdual public

employmentandthat he was suspendedfor fifty daysfor his actionsinvolving a domesticdispute

betweenhis ex-wife andson. [Doc. No. 121, Exh. 3, McConaugheyDepo., p. 9].

Dualpublicemploymentis prohibitedbyLa. Rev.Stat.42:61,et.seq.LouisianaRevisedStatute

42:63Eprovidesas follows:

No personholding a full-time appointmentoffice or full-time employmentin the
governmentof this stateor a political subdivisionthereofshallat the sametime hold
anotherfull-time appointmentoffice or full-time employmentin the governmentof the
state of Louisiana, in the governmentof a political subdivisionthereof, or in a
combinationof these.

McConaugheyworkedfull time for the LouisianaStateBoardof Cosmetology(“the Board”) andthe

MFD. The City haspresentedundisputedevidencethatChiefBryant receivedcorrespondencedated

September12, 2007,andOctober4, 2007,from the Boardindicating thatMcConaugheyappearedto

hold two governmentaljobs and asking for his work schedulefor 2007. [Doc. No. 62, Exh. 3,

McConaugheyDepo.,Exhs.2 & 3]. McConaugheyadmittedhe did not know whetherChiefBryant

“initiated a contactwith the Board. . . or whethertheBoard . . . sent[ChiefBryant] a letter.” [Doc.No.

62, Exh. 3, McConaugheyDepo.,p. 13].

The City arguesthat ChiefBryant’scooperationin theinvestigationof conductprohibited by

law is not aretaliatoryact. Plaintiffs havenot opposedthis argument.The Court agreeswith the City

thatPlaintiffs havefailed to meettheir burdenon this claim.

McConaugheyalsoclaimsretaliationbecausehe receiveda 50-daysuspensionfor anincident

in whichhetook aMFD vehicle,usinglights andsiren,while on duty, to respondto aprivatedomestic

disputebetweenhis ex-wife and son. [Doc. No. 62, Exh. 3, McConaugheyDepo., pp. 8, 15-20].

McConaugheyadmits that this matter was reviewed by the MFD disciplinaryboard, which was
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comprisedof sevenvotingmembersandincludedaPlaintiff in thismatter,BryanNugent.[Doc. No. 62,

Exh. 3, McConaugheyDepo.,pp. 23-24]. AlthoughtheMFD disciplinaryboardrecommendedthathe

be suspendedfor 90 days,ChiefBryantreducedthe suspensionto 50 days.McConaugheyalsoadmitted

thatChiefMay, who is not aPlaintiff~wasalso suspended,as aresultof his role in the incident.[Doc.

No. 62, Exh. 3, pp. 18, 26-27].

Plaintiffshavenot opposedthe City’s evidenceor argumentonthismatter,andtheCourt,again,

agreeswith the City thatPlaintiffs havefailed to meettheirburdenon this claim as well. Accordingly,

the City’s Motion for Partial SummaryJudgmenton McConaughey’sclaims of retaliationbasedon

ChiefBryant’s involvementin his dualemploymentandhis suspensionis GRANTED.

III. CONCLUSION

Fortheforegoingreasons,theCity’s ThirdMotion forPartialSummaryJudgment[Doc.No.

62] is GRANTED N PART andDENIED iN PART. Themotion is GRANTED as to Plaintiffs’

retaliationclaimsbasedon criminalbackgroundchecks;restrictionson thelocationofandattendance

atUnionmeetings;thetelephoneusagepolicy; thetimetradingpolicy; enforcementofthesick leave

policy, exceptasto theclaimofPlaintiff WayneDuke(andsubjectto reconsideration);forfeitureof

earnedvacationbyretiredfirefighters;andMcConaughey’sclaimsbasedon his dualemploymentand

his suspension. The Court finds the City has failed to carry its burdenof proof, and summary

judgmentis DENIED asto Plaintiffs’ retaliationclaimsbasedon thelockdownpolicy; thetransfers

ofJeselink,Dickerson,andMcConaughey;therescissionof theCBA; andtheremovaloffurniture

andpersonalappliancesfrom the fire stations. Plaintiffs’ retaliationclaims basedon the City’s

counterclaimandbasedon theCity’s allegedfailure to payovertimecompensationwerenotpledand

arenotproperlybeforetheCourt.
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MONROE,LOUISIANA, this 17thdayofMarch,2009.
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